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on civil suits under the Act, or to oth-
erwise affect a lessee’s or purchaser’s
rights under the civil penalty provi-
sions of 42 U.S.C. 4852d(b)(3).

(d) The seller, lessor, or agent shall
not be responsible for the failure of a
purchaser’s or lessee’s legal representa-
tive (where such representative re-
ceives all compensation from the pur-
chaser or lessee) to transmit disclosure
materials to the purchaser or lessee,
provided that all required parties have
completed and signed the necessary
certification and acknowledgment lan-
guage required under paragraphs (a)
and (b) of this section.

(Approved by the Office of Management and
Budget under control number 2070-0151)

[61 FR 9082, Mar. 6, 1996, as amended at 64 FR
14382, Mar. 25, 1999]

§35.94 Agent responsibilities.

(a) Each agent shall ensure compli-
ance with all requirements of this sub-
part. To ensure compliance, the agent
shall:

(1) Inform the seller or lessor of his/
her obligations under §§35.88, 35.90, and
35.92.

(2) Ensure that the seller or lessor
has performed all activities required
under §§35.88, 35.90, and 35.92, or person-
ally ensure compliance with the re-
quirements of §§35.88, 35.90, and 35.92.

(b) If the agent has complied with
paragraph (a)(1) of this section, the
agent shall not be liable for the failure
to disclose to a purchaser or lessee the
presence of lead-based paint and/or
lead-based paint hazards known by a
seller or lessor but not disclosed to the
agent.

(Approved by the Office of Management and
Budget under control number 2070-0151)

[61 FR 9082, Mar. 6, 1996, as amended at 64 FR
14382, Mar. 25, 1999]

§35.96 Enforcement.

(a) Any person who knowingly fails
to comply with any provision of this
subpart shall be subject to civil mone-
tary penalties in accordance with the
provisions of 42 U.S.C. 3545 and 24 CFR
part 30.

(b) The Secretary is authorized to
take such action as may be necessary
to enjoin any violation of this subpart
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in the appropriate Federal district
court.

(c) Any person who knowingly vio-
lates the provisions of this subpart
shall be jointly and severally liable to
the purchaser or lessee in an amount
equal to 3 times the amount of dam-
ages incurred by such individual.

(d) In any civil action brought for
damages pursuant to 42 TU.S.C.
4852d(b)(3), the appropriate court may
award court costs to the party com-
mencing such action, together with
reasonable attorney fees and any ex-
pert witness fees, if that party prevails.

(e) Failure or refusal to comply with
§§35.88 (disclosure requirements for
sellers and lessors), §35.90 (opportunity
to conduct an evaluation), §35.92 (cer-
tification and acknowledgment of dis-
closure), or §35.94 (agent responsibil-
ities) is a violation of 42 U.S.C.
4852d(b)(5) and of T'SCA section 409 (15
U.S.C. 2689).

(f) Violators may be subject to civil
and criminal sanctions pursuant to
TSCA section 16 (156 U.S.C. 2615) for
each violation. For purposes of enforc-
ing this subpart, the penalty for each
violation applicable under 15 U.S.C.
2615 shall be not more than $10,000.

§35.98 Impact on State and local re-
quirements.

Nothing in this subpart shall relieve
a seller, lessor, or agent from any re-
sponsibility for compliance with State
or local laws, ordinances, codes, or reg-
ulations governing notice or disclosure
of known lead-based paint and/or lead-
based paint hazards. Neither HUD nor
EPA assumes any responsibility for en-
suring compliance with such State or
local requirements.

Subpart B—General Lead-Based
Paint Requirements and Defi-
nitions for All Programs.

SOURCE: 64 FR 50202, Sept. 15, 1999, unless
otherwise noted.

§35.100 Purpose and applicability.

(a) Purpose. The requirements of sub-
parts B through R of this part are pro-
mulgated to implement the Lead-Based
Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, as
amended (42 U.S.C. 4821 et seq.), and the
Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard
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Reduction Act of 1992 (42 U.S.C. 4851 et
seq.).

(b) Applicability—(1) This subpart. This
subpart applies to all target housing
that is federally owned and target
housing receiving Federal assistance to
which subparts C, D, F through M, and
R of this part apply, except where indi-
cated.

(2) Other subparts—(i) General. Sub-
parts C, D, and F through M of this
part each set forth requirements for a
specific type of Federal housing activ-
ity or assistance, such as multifamily
mortgage insurance, project-based
rental assistance, rehabilitation, or
tenant-based rental assistance. Sub-
part R of this part provides standards
and methods for activities required in
subparts B, C, D, and F through M of
this part.

(i1) Application to programs. Most HUD
housing programs are covered by only
one subpart of this part, but some pro-
grams can be used for more than one
type of assistance and therefore are
covered by more than one subpart of
this part. A current list of programs
covered by each subpart of this part is
available on the internet at
www.hud.gov, or by mail from the Na-
tional Lead Information Center at 1-
800-424-LEAD. Examples of flexible
programs that can provide more than
one type of assistance are the HOME
Investment Partnerships program, the
Community Development Block Grant
program, and the Indian Housing Block
Grant Program. Grantees, partici-
pating jurisdictions, Indian tribes and
other entities administering such flexi-
ble programs must decide which sub-
part applies to the type of assistance
being provided to a particular dwelling
unit or residential property.

(iii) Application to dwelling units. In
some cases, more than one type of as-
sistance may be provided to the same
dwelling unit. In such cases, the sub-
part or section with the most protec-
tive initial hazard reduction require-
ments applies. Paragraph (c) of this
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section provides a table that lists the
subparts and sections of this part in
order from the most protective to the
least protective. (This list is based only
on the requirements for initial hazard
reduction. The summary of require-
ments on this list is not a complete list
of requirements. It is necessary to refer
to the applicable subparts and sections
to determine all applicable require-
ments.)

(iv) Example. A multifamily building
has 100 dwelling units and was built in
1965. The property is financed with
HUD multifamily mortgage insurance.
This building is covered by subpart G
of this part (see §35.625—Multifamily
mortgage insurance for properties con-
structed after 1959), which is at protec-
tiveness level 5 in the table set forth in
paragraph (¢) of this section. In the
same building, however, 50 of the 100
dwelling units are receiving project-
based assistance, and the average an-
nual assistance per assisted unit is
$5,500. Those 50 units, and common
areas servicing those units, are covered
by the requirements of subpart H of
this part (see §35.715—Project-based as-
sistance for multifamily properties re-
ceiving more than $5,000 per unit),
which are at protectiveness level 3.
Therefore, because level 3 is a higher
level of protectiveness than level 5, the
units receiving project-based assist-
ance, and common areas servicing
those units, must comply at level 3,
while the rest of the building can be
operated at level 5. The owner may
choose to operate the entire building at
level 3 for simplicity.

(c) Table One. The following table
lists the subparts and sections of this
part applying to HUD programs in
order from most protective to least
protective hazard reduction require-
ments. The summary of hazard reduc-
tion requirements in this table is not
complete. Readers must refer to rel-
evant subpart for complete require-
ments.

Level of protection

Subpart, section, and type of assistance

Hazard reduction
requirements

bilitation assistance.

Subpart L, Public housing. Subpart G, §35.630, Multifamily mortgage insurance
for conversions and major rehabilitations.
Subpart J, §35.930(d), Properties receiving more than $25,000 per unit in reha-

Full abatement of
lead-based paint.

Abatement of lead-
based paint haz-
ards.
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Subpart, section, and type of assistance

Hazard reduction
requirements

Level of protection
3 e
in rehabilitation assistance.
A
B o
after 1959.
6 e
bilitation assistance.

Subpart G, §35.620, Multifamily mortgage insurance for properties constructed
before 1960, other than conversions and major rehabilitations. Subpart H,
§35.715, Project-based assistance for multifamily properties receiving more
than $5,000 per unit. Subpart I, HUD-owned multifamily property. Subpart J,
§35.930(c), Properties receiving more than $5,000 and up to $25,000 per unit

Subpart F, HUD-owned single family properties. Subpart H, §35.720, Project-
based rental assistance for multifamily properties receiving up to $5,000 per
unit and single family properties. Subpart K, Acquisition, leasing, support
services, or operation. Subpart M, Tenant-based rental assistance.

Subpart G, §35.625, Multifamily mortgage insurance for properties constructed

Subpart J, §35.930(b), Properties receiving up to and including $5,000 in reha-

Interim controls.

Paint stabilization.

Ongoing lead-based
paint mainte-
nance.

Safe work practices
during rehabilita-
tion.

§35.105 Effective dates.

The effective date for subparts B
through R of this part is September 15,
2000, except that the effective date for
prohibited methods of paint removal,
described in §35.140, is November 15,
1999. Subparts F through M of this part
provide further information on the ap-
plication of the effective date to spe-
cific programs. Before September 15,
2000, a designated party has the option
of following the procedures in subparts
B through R of this part, or complying
with current HUD lead-based paint reg-
ulations.

§35.106 Information
quirements.

The information collection require-
ments contained in this part have been
approved by the Office of Management
and Budget (OMB) in accordance with
the requirements of the Paperwork Re-
duction Act of 1995 (44 U.S.C. 2501-3520),
and have been assigned OMB control
number 2539-0009. An agency may not
conduct or sponsor, and a person is not
required to respond to, a collection of
information unless the collection dis-
plays a valid control number.

collection re-

§35.110 Definitions.

Abatement means any set of measures
designed to permanently eliminate
lead-based paint or lead-based paint
hazards (see definition of ‘‘perma-
nent’’). Abatement includes:

(1) The removal of lead-based paint
and dust-lead hazards, the permanent
enclosure or encapsulation of lead-
based paint, the replacement of compo-

nents or fixtures painted with lead-
based paint, and the removal or perma-
nent covering of soil-lead hazards; and

(2) All preparation, cleanup, disposal,
and post abatement clearance testing
activities associated with such meas-
ures.

Act means the Lead-Based Paint Poi-
soning Prevention Act, as amended, 42
U.S.C. 4822 et seq.

Bare soil means soil or sand not cov-
ered by grass, sod, other live ground
covers, wood chips, gravel, artificial
turf, or similar covering.

Certified means licensed or certified
to perform such activities as risk as-
sessment, lead-based paint inspection,
or abatement supervision, either by a
State or Indian tribe with a lead-based
paint certification program authorized
by the Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA), or by the EPA, in ac-
cordance with 40 CFR part 745, subparts
L or Q.

Chewable surface means an interior
or exterior surface painted with lead-
based paint that a young child can
mouth or chew. A chewable surface is
the same as an ‘‘accessible surface’ as
defined in 42 TU.S.C. 4851b(2)). Hard
metal substrates and other materials
that cannot be dented by the bite of a
young child are not considered
chewable.

Clearance examination means an ac-
tivity conducted following lead-based
paint hazard reduction activities to de-
termine that the hazard reduction ac-
tivities are complete and that no soil-
lead hazards or settled dust-lead haz-
ards, as defined in this part, exist in
the dwelling unit or worksite. The
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clearance process includes a visual as-
sessment and collection and analysis of
environmental samples. Dust-lead
standards for clearance are found at
§35.1320.

CILP recipient means an owner of a
multifamily property which is under-
going rehabilitation funded by the
Flexible Subsidy-Capital Improvement
Loan Program (CILP).

Common area means a portion of a
residential property that is available
for use by occupants of more than one
dwelling unit. Such an area may in-
clude, but is not limited to, hallways,
stairways, laundry and recreational
rooms, playgrounds, community cen-
ters, on-site day care facilities, garages
and boundary fences.

Component means an architectural
element of a dwelling unit or common
area identified by type and location,
such as a bedroom wall, an exterior
window sill, a baseboard in a living
room, a Kitchen floor, an interior win-
dow sill in a bathroom, a porch floor,
stair treads in a common stairwell, or
an exterior wall.

Composite sample means a collection
of more than one sample of the same
medium (e.g., dust, soil or paint) from
the same type of surface (e.g., floor, in-
terior window sill, or window trough),
such that multiple samples can be ana-
lyzed as a single sample.

Containment means the physical
measures taken to ensure that dust and
debris created or released during lead-
based paint hazard reduction are not
spread, blown or tracked from inside to
outside of the worksite.

Designated party means a Federal
agency, grantee, subrecipient, partici-
pating jurisdiction, housing agency,
CILP recipient, Indian tribe, tribally
designated housing entity (TDHE),
sponsor or property owner responsible
for complying with applicable require-
ments.

Deteriorated paint means any interior
or exterior paint or other coating that
is peeling, chipping, chalking or crack-
ing, or any paint or coating located on
an interior or exterior surface or fix-
ture that is otherwise damaged or sepa-
rated from the substrate.

Dry sanding means sanding without
moisture and includes both hand and
machine sanding.
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Dust-lead hazard means surface dust
that contains a dust-lead loading (area
concentration of lead) at or exceeding
the levels promulgated by the EPA
pursuant to section 403 of the Toxic
Substances Control Act or, if such lev-
els are not in effect, the standards in
§35.1320.

Duwelling unit means a:

(1) Single-family dwelling, including
attached structures such as porches
and stoops; or

(2) Housing unit in a structure that
contains more than 1 separate housing
unit, and in which each such unit is
used or occupied, or intended to be
used or occupied, in whole or in part,
as the home or separate living quarters
of 1 or more persons.

Encapsulation means the application
of a covering or coating that acts as a
barrier between the lead-based paint
and the environment and that relies for
its durability on adhesion between the
encapsulant and the painted surface,
and on the integrity of the existing
bonds between paint layers and be-
tween the paint and the substrate. En-
capsulation may be used as a method of
abatement if it is designed and per-
formed so as to be permanent (see defi-
nition of ‘‘permanent’’).

Enclosure means the use of rigid, du-
rable construction materials that are
mechanically fastened to the substrate
in order to act as a barrier between
lead-based paint and the environment.
Enclosure may be used as a method of
abatement if it is designed to be per-
manent (see definition of ‘‘perma-
nent’’).

Environmental intervention blood lead
level means a confirmed concentration
of lead in whole blood equal to or
greater than 20 pg/dL (micrograms of
lead per deciliter) for a single test or
15-19 pg/dL in two tests taken at least
3 months apart.

Evaluation means a risk assessment,
a lead hazard screen, a lead-based paint
inspection, paint testing, or a combina-
tion of these to determine the presence
of lead-based paint hazards or lead-
based paint.

Ezxpected to reside means there is ac-
tual knowledge that a child will reside
in a dwelling unit reserved for the el-
derly or designated exclusively for per-
sons with disabilities. If a resident
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woman is known to be pregnant, there
is actual knowledge that a child will
reside in the dwelling unit.

Federal agency means the United
States or any executive department,
independent establishment, adminis-
trative agency and instrumentality of
the United States, including a corpora-
tion in which all or a substantial
amount of the stock is beneficially
owned by the United States or by any
of these entities. The term ‘‘Federal
agency’’ includes, but is not limited to,
Rural Housing Service (formerly Rural
Housing and Community Development
Service that was formerly Farmer’s
Home  Administration), Resolution
Trust Corporation, General Services
Administration, Department of De-
fense, Department of Veterans Affairs,
Department of the Interior, and De-
partment of Transportation.

Federally owned property means resi-
dential property owned or managed by
a Federal agency, or for which a Fed-
eral agency is a trustee or conservator.

Firm commitment means a valid com-
mitment issued by HUD or the Federal
Housing Commissioner setting forth
the terms and conditions upon which a
mortgage will be insured or guaran-
teed.

Friction surface means an interior or
exterior surface that is subject to abra-
sion or friction, including, but not lim-
ited to, certain window, floor, and stair
surfaces.

g means gram, mg means milligram
(thousandth of a gram), and pg means
microgram (millionth of a gram).

Grantee means any State or local
government, Indian tribe, IHBG recipi-
ent, insular area or nonprofit organiza-
tion that has been designated by HUD
to administer Federal housing assist-
ance under a program covered by sub-
parts J and K of this part, except the
HOME program or the Flexible Sub-
sidy-Capital Improvement Loan Pro-
gram (CILP).

Hard costs of rehabilitation means:

(1) Costs to correct substandard con-
ditions or to meet applicable local re-
habilitation standards;

(2) Costs to make essential improve-
ments, including energy-related re-
pairs, and those necessary to permit
use by persons with disabilities; and
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costs to repair or replace major hous-
ing systems in danger of failure; and

(3) Costs of non-essential improve-
ments, including additions and alter-
ations to an existing structure; but

(4) Hard costs do not include adminis-
trative costs (e.g., overhead for admin-
istering a rehabilitation program, proc-
essing fees, etc.).

Haczard reduction means measures de-
signed to reduce or eliminate human
exposure to lead-based paint hazards
through methods including interim
controls or abatement or a combina-
tion of the two.

HEPA vacuum means a vacuum clean-
er device with an included high-effi-
ciency particulate air (HEPA) filter
through which the contaminated air
flows, operated in accordance with the
instructions of its manufacturer. A
HEPA filter is one that captures at
least 99.97 percent of airborne particles
of at least 0.3 micrometers in diameter.

Housing for the elderly means retire-
ment communities or similar types of
housing reserved for households com-
posed of one or more persons 62 years
of age or more, or other age if recog-
nized as elderly by a specific Federal
housing assistance program.

Housing receiving Federal assistance
means housing which is covered by an
application for HUD mortgage insur-
ance, receives housing assistance pay-
ments under a program administered
by HUD, or otherwise receives more
than $5,000 in project-based assistance
under a Federal housing program ad-
ministered by an agency other than
HUD.

HUD means the United States De-
partment of Housing and Urban Devel-
opment.

HUD-owned property means residen-
tial property owned or managed by
HUD, or for which HUD is a trustee or
conservator.

Impact surface means an interior or
exterior surface that is subject to dam-
age by repeated sudden force, such as
certain parts of door frames.

Indian Housing Block Grant (IHBG) re-
cipient means a tribe or a tribally des-
ignated housing entity (TDHE) receiv-
ing THBG funds.
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Indian tribe means a tribe as defined
in the Native American Housing As-
sistance and Self-Determination Act of
1996 (25 U.S.C. 4101 et seq.)

Inspection (See Lead-based paint in-
spection).

Insular areas means Guam, the North-
ern Mariana Islands, the United States
Virgin Islands and American Samoa.

Interim controls means a set of meas-
ures designed to reduce temporarily
human exposure or likely exposure to
lead-based paint hazards. Interim con-
trols include, but are not limited to,
repairs, painting, temporary contain-
ment, specialized cleaning, clearance,
ongoing lead-based paint maintenance
activities, and the establishment and
operation of management and resident
education programs.

Interior window sill means the portion
of the horizontal window ledge that
protrudes into the interior of the room,
adjacent to the window sash when the
window is closed. The interior window
sill is sometimes referred to as the win-
dow stool.

Lead-based paint means paint or other
surface coatings that contain lead
equal to or exceeding 1.0 milligram per
square centimeter or 0.5 percent by
weight or 5,000 parts per million (ppm)
by weight.

Lead-based paint hazard means any
condition that causes exposure to lead
from dust-lead hazards, soil-lead haz-
ards, or lead-based paint that is dete-
riorated or present in chewable sur-
faces, friction surfaces, or impact sur-
faces, and that would result in adverse
human health effects.

Lead-based paint inspection means a
surface-by-surface investigation to de-
termine the presence of lead-based
paint and the provision of a report ex-
plaining the results of the investiga-
tion.

Lead hazard screen means a limited
risk assessment activity that involves
paint testing and dust sampling and
analysis as described in 40 CFR
745.227(c) and soil sampling and anal-
ysis as described in 40 CFR 745.227(d).

Mortgagee means a lender of a mort-
gage loan.

Mortgagor means a borrower of a
mortgage loan.
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Multifamily property means a residen-
tial property containing five or more
dwelling units.

Occupant means a person who inhab-
its a dwelling unit.

Owner means a person, firm, corpora-
tion, nonprofit organization, partner-
ship, government, guardian, conser-
vator, receiver, trustee, executor, or
other judicial officer, or other entity
which, alone or with others, owns,
holds, or controls the freehold or lease-
hold title or part of the title to prop-
erty, with or without actually pos-
sessing it. The definition includes a
vendee who possesses the title, but
does not include a mortgagee or an
owner of a reversionary interest under
a ground rent lease.

Paint stabilication means repairing
any physical defect in the substrate of
a painted surface that is causing paint
deterioration, removing loose paint
and other material from the surface to
be treated, and applying a new protec-
tive coating or paint.

Paint testing means the process of de-
termining, by a certified lead-based
paint inspector or risk assessor, the
presence or the absence of lead-based
paint on deteriorated paint surfaces or
painted surfaces to be disturbed or re-
placed.

Paint removal means a method of
abatement that permanently elimi-
nates lead-based paint from surfaces.

Painted surface to be disturbed means a
paint surface that is to be scraped,
sanded, cut, penetrated or otherwise af-
fected by rehabilitation work in a man-
ner that could potentially create a
lead-based paint hazard by generating
dust, fumes, or paint chips.

Participating jurisdiction means any
State or local government that has
been designated by HUD to administer
a HOME program grant.

Permanent means an expected design
life of at least 20 years.

Play area means an area of frequent
soil contact by children of less than 6
years of age, as indicated by the pres-
ence of play equipment (e.g. sandboxes,
swing sets, sliding boards, etc.) or toys
or other children’s possessions, obser-
vations of play patterns, or informa-
tion provided by parents, residents or
property owners.
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Project-based rental assistance means
Federal rental assistance that is tied
to a residential property with a specific
location and remains with that par-
ticular location throughout the term of
the assistance.

Public health department means a
State, tribal, county or municipal pub-
lic health department or the Indian
Health Service.

Public housing development means a
residential property assisted under the
United States Housing Act of 1937 (42
U.S.C. 1437 et seq.), but not including
housing assisted under section 8 of the
1937 Act.

Reevaluation means a visual assess-
ment of painted surfaces and limited
dust and soil sampling conducted peri-
odically following lead-based paint haz-
ard reduction where lead-based paint is
still present.

Rehabilitation means the improve-
ment of an existing structure through
alterations, incidental additions or en-
hancements. Rehabilitation includes
repairs necessary to correct the results
of deferred maintenance, the replace-
ment of principal fixtures and compo-
nents, improvements to increase the ef-
ficient use of energy, and installation
of security devices.

Replacement means a strategy of
abatement that entails the removal of
building components that have sur-
faces coated with lead-based paint and
the installation of new components
free of lead-based paint.

Residential property means a dwelling
unit, common areas, building exterior
surfaces, and any surrounding land, in-
cluding outbuildings, fences and play
equipment affixed to the land, belong-
ing to an owner and available for use
by residents, but not including land
used for agricultural, commercial, in-
dustrial or other non-residential pur-
poses, and not including paint on the
pavement of parking lots, garages, or
roadways.

Risk assessment means:

(1) An on-site investigation to deter-
mine the existence, nature, severity,
and location of lead-based paint haz-
ards; and

(2) The provision of a report by the
individual or firm conducting the risk
assessment explaining the results of
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the investigation and options for re-
ducing lead-based paint hazards.

Single family property means a resi-
dential property containing one
through four dwelling units.

Single room occupancy (SRO) housing
means housing consisting of zero-bed-
room dwelling units that may contain
food preparation or sanitary facilities
or both (see Zero-bedroom dwelling).

Soil-lead hacard means bare soil on
residential property that contains lead
equal to or exceeding levels promul-
gated by the U.S. Environmental Pro-
tection Agency pursuant to section 403
of the Toxic Substances Control Act or,
if such levels are not in effect, the fol-
lowing levels: 400 pg/g in play areas;
and 2000 pg/g in other areas with bare
soil that total more than 9 square feet
(0.8 square meters) per residential prop-
erty.

Sponsor means mortgagor (borrower).

Subrecipient means any nonprofit or-
ganization selected by the grantee or
participating jurisdiction to admin-
ister all or a portion of the Federal re-
habilitation assistance or other non-re-
habilitation assistance, or any such or-
ganization selected by a subrecipient of
the grantee or participating jurisdic-
tion. An owner or developer receiving
Federal rehabilitation assistance or
other assistance for a residential prop-
erty is not considered a subrecipient
for the purposes of carrying out that
project.

Standard treatments means a series of
hazard reduction measures designed to
reduce all lead-based paint hazards in a
dwelling unit without the benefit of a
risk assessment or other evaluation.

Substrate means the material directly
beneath the painted surface out of
which the components are constructed,
including wood, drywall, plaster, con-
crete, brick or metal.

Target housing means any housing
constructed prior to 1978, except hous-
ing for the elderly or persons with dis-
abilities (unless a child of less than 6
years of age resides or is expected to
reside in such housing for the elderly
or persons with disabilities) or any
zero-bedroom dwelling. In the case of
jurisdictions which banned the sale or
use of lead-based paint prior to 1978,
HUD may designate an earlier date.
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Tenant means the individual named
as the lessee in a lease, rental agree-
ment or occupancy agreement for a
dwelling unit.

Visual assessment means looking for,
as applicable:

(1) Deteriorated paint;

(2) Visible surface dust, debris and
residue as part of a risk assessment or
clearance examination; or

(3) The completion or failure of a haz-
ard reduction measure.

Wet sanding or wet scraping means a
process of removing loose paint in
which the painted surface to be sanded
or scraped is kept wet to minimize the
dispersal of paint chips and airborne
dust.

Window trough means the area be-
tween the interior window sill (stool)
and the storm window frame. If there is
no storm window, the window trough is
the area that receives both the upper
and lower window sashes when they are
both lowered.

Worksite means an interior or exte-
rior area where lead-based paint hazard
reduction activity takes place. There
may be more than one worksite in a
dwelling unit or at a residential prop-
erty.

Zero-bedroom dwelling means any resi-
dential dwelling in which the living
areas are not separated from the sleep-
ing area. The term includes effi-
ciencies, studio apartments, dormitory
or single room occupancy housing,
military barracks, and rentals of indi-
vidual rooms in residential dwellings
(see Single room occupancy (SRO)).

§35.115 Exemptions.

(a) Subparts B through R of this part
do not apply to the following:

(1) A residential property for which
construction was completed on or after
January 1, 1978, or, in the case of juris-
dictions which banned the sale or resi-
dential use of lead-containing paint
prior to 1978, an earlier date as HUD
may designate (see §35.160).

(2) A zero-bedroom dwelling unit, in-
cluding a single room occupancy (SRO)
dwelling unit.

(3) Housing for the elderly, or a resi-
dential property designated exclusively
for persons with disabilities; except
this exemption shall not apply if a
child less than age 6 resides or is ex-
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pected to reside in the dwelling unit
(see definitions of ‘‘housing for the el-
derly” and ‘‘expected to reside” in
§35.110).

(4) Residential property found not to
have lead-based paint by a lead-based
paint inspection conducted in accord-
ance with §35.1320(a) (for more informa-
tion regarding inspection procedures
consult the 1997 edition of Chapter 7 of
the HUD Guidelines). Results of addi-
tional test(s) by a certified lead-based
paint inspector may be used to confirm
or refute a prior finding.

(5) Residential property in which all
lead-based paint has been identified,
removed, and clearance has been
achieved in accordance with 40 CFR
745.227(b)(e) before September 15, 2000,
or in accordance with §§35.1320, 35.1325
and 35.1340 on or after September 15,
2000. This exemption does not apply to
residential property where enclosure or
encapsulation has been used as a meth-
od of abatement.

(6) An unoccupied dwelling unit or
residential property that is to be de-
molished, provided the dwelling unit or
property will remain unoccupied until
demolition.

(7) A property or part of a property
that is not used and will not be used for
human residential habitation, except
that spaces such as entryways, hall-
ways, corridors, passageways or stair-
ways serving both residential and non-
residential uses in a mixed-use prop-
erty shall not be exempt.

(8) Any rehabilitation that does not
disturb a painted surface.

(9) For emergency actions imme-
diately necessary to safeguard against
imminent danger to human life, health
or safety, or to protect property from
further structural damage (such as
when a property has been damaged by
a natural disaster, fire, or structural
collapse), occupants shall be protected
from exposure to lead in dust and de-
bris generated by such emergency ac-
tions to the extent practicable, and the
requirements of subparts B through R
of this part shall not apply. This ex-
emption applies only to repairs nec-
essary to respond to the emergency.
The requirements of subparts B
through R of this part shall apply to
any work undertaken subsequent to, or
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above and beyond, such emergency ac-
tions.

(10) If a Federal law enforcement
agency has seized a residential prop-
erty and owns the property for less
than 270 days, §§35.210 and 35.215 shall
not apply to the property.

(11) The requirements of subpart K of
this part do not apply if the assistance
being provided is emergency rental as-
sistance or foreclosure prevention as-
sistance, provided that this exemption
shall expire for a dwelling unit no later
than 100 days after the initial payment
or assistance.

(12) Performance of an evaluation or
lead-based paint hazard reduction or
lead-based paint abatement on an exte-
rior painted surface as required under
this part may be delayed for a reason-
able time during a period when weather
conditions are unsuitable for conven-
tional construction activities.

(13) Where abatement of lead-based
paint hazards or lead-based paint is re-
quired by this part and the property is
listed or has been determined to be eli-
gible for listing in the National Reg-
ister of Historic Places or contributing
to a National Register Historic Dis-
trict, the designated party may, if re-
quested by the State Historic Preserva-
tion Office, conduct interim controls in
accordance with §35.1330 instead of
abatement. If interim controls are con-
ducted, ongoing lead-based paint main-
tenance and reevaluation shall be con-
ducted as required by the applicable
subpart of this part in accordance with
§35.1355.

(b) For the purposes of subpart C of
this part, each Federal agency other
than HUD will determine whether ap-
propriations are sufficient to imple-
ment this rule. If appropriations are
not sufficient, subpart C of this part
shall not apply to that Federal agency.
If appropriations are sufficient, subpart
C of this part shall apply.

§35.120 Options.

(a) Standard treatments. Where in-
terim controls are required by this
part, the designated party has the op-
tion to presume that lead-based paint
or lead-based paint hazards or both are
present throughout the residential
property. In such a case, evaluation is
not required. Standard treatments

§35.125

shall then be conducted in accordance
with §35.1335 on all applicable surfaces,
including soil. Standard treatments are
completed only when clearance is
achieved in accordance with §35.1340.

(b) Abatement. Where abatement is re-
quired by this part, the designated
party may presume that lead-based
paint or lead-based paint hazards or
both are present throughout the resi-
dential property. In such a case, eval-
uation is not required. Abatement shall
then be conducted on all applicable
surfaces, including soil, in accordance
with §35.1325, and completed when
clearance is achieved in accordance
with §35.1340. This option is not avail-
able in public housing, where inspec-
tion is required.

(c) Lead hazard screen. Where a risk
assessment is required, the designated
party may choose first to conduct a
lead hazard screen in accordance with
§35.1320(b). If the results of the lead
hazard screen indicate the need for a
full risk assessment (e.g., if the envi-
ronmental measurements exceed levels
established for lead hazard screens in
§35.1320(b)(2)), a complete risk assess-
ment shall be conducted. Environ-
mental samples collected for the lead
hazard screen may be used in the risk
assessment. If the results of the lead
hazard screen do not indicate the need
for a follow-up risk assessment, a risk
assessment is not required.

(d) Paint testing. Where paint sta-
bilization or interim controls of dete-
riorated paint surfaces are required by
this rule, the designated party has the
option to conduct paint testing of all
surfaces with non-intact paint. If paint
testing indicates the absence of lead-
based paint on a specific surface, paint
stabilization or interim controls are
not required on that surface.

§35.125 Notice of evaluation and haz-
ard reduction activities.

The following activities shall be con-
ducted if notice is required by subparts
D and F through M of this part.

(a) Notice of evaluation or presumption.
When evaluation is undertaken and
lead-based paint or lead-based paint
hazards are found to be present, or if a
presumption is made that lead-based
paint or lead-based paint hazards are
present in accordance with the options
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described in §35.120, the designated
party shall provide a notice to occu-
pants within 15 calendar days of the
date when the designated party re-
ceives the report or makes the pre-
sumption.

(1) The notice of the evaluation shall
include:

(i) A summary of the nature, scope
and results of the evaluation;

(ii) A contact name, address and tele-
phone number for more information,
and to obtain access to the actual eval-
uation report; and

(iii) The date of the notice.

(2) The notice of presumption shall
include:

(i) The nature and scope of the pre-
sumption;

(i1) A contact name, address and tele-
phone number for more information;
and

(iii) The date of the notice.

(b) Notice of hazard reduction activity.
When hazard reduction activities are
undertaken, each designated party
shall:

(1) Provide a notice to occupants no
more than 15 calendar days after the
hazard reduction activities have been
completed. Notice of hazard reduction
shall include, but not be limited to:

(i) A summary of the nature, scope
and results (including clearance), of
the hazard reduction activities.

(i1) A contact name, address and tele-
phone number for more information;
and

(iii) Available information on the lo-
cation of any remaining lead-based
paint in the rooms, spaces or areas
where hazard reduction activities were
conducted, on a surface-by-surface
basis;

(2) Update the notice, based on re-
evaluation of the residential property
and as any additional hazard reduction
work is conducted.

(c) Availability of notices of evaluation,
presumption, and hazard reduction activi-
ties. (1) The notices of evaluation, pre-
sumption, and hazard reduction shall
be of a size and type that is easily read
by occupants.

(2) To the extent practicable, each
notice shall be made available, upon
request, in a format accessible to per-
sons with disabilities (e.g., Braille,
large type, computer disk, audio tape).
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(3) Each notice shall be provided in
the occupants’ primary language or in
the language of the occupants’ con-
tract or lease.

(4) The designated party shall provide
each notice to the occupants by:

(i) Posting and maintaining it in cen-
trally located common areas and dis-
tributing it to any dwelling unit if nec-
essary because the head of household is
a person with a known disability; or

(ii) Distributing it to each occupied
dwelling unit affected by the evalua-
tion, presumption, or hazard reduction
activity or serviced by common areas
in which an evaluation, presumption or
hazard reduction has taken place.

§35.130 Lead hazard information pam-
phlet.

If provision of a lead hazard informa-
tion pamphlet is required in subparts D
and F through M of this part, the des-
ignated party shall provide to each oc-
cupied dwelling unit to which subparts
D and F through M of this part apply,
the lead hazard information pamphlet
developed by EPA, HUD and the Con-
sumer Product Safety Commission pur-
suant to section 406 of the Toxic Sub-
stances Control Act (15 U.S.C. 2686), or
an EPA-approved alternative; except
that the designated party need not pro-
vide a lead hazard information pam-
phlet if the designated party can dem-
onstrate that the pamphlet has already
been provided in accordance with the
lead-based paint notification and dis-
closure requirements at §35.88(a)(1), or
40 CFR 745.107(a)(1) or in accordance
with the requirements for hazard edu-
cation before renovation at 40 CFR
part 745, subpart E.

§35.135

(a) New wuse prohibition. The use of
paint containing more than 0.06 per-
cent dry weight of lead on any interior
or exterior surface in federally owned
housing or housing receiving Federal
assistance is prohibited. As appro-
priate, each Federal agency shall in-
clude the prohibition in contracts,
grants, cooperative agreements, insur-
ance agreements, guaranty agree-
ments, trust agreements, or other simi-
lar documents.

(b) Pre-1978 prohibition. In the case of
a jurisdiction which banned the sale or

Use of paint containing lead.
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residential use of lead-containing paint
before 1978, HUD may designate an ear-
lier date for certain provisions of sub-
parts D and F through M of this part.

§35.140 Prohibited methods of paint
removal.

The following methods shall not be
used to remove paint that is, or may
be, lead-based paint:

(a) Open flame burning or torching.

(b) Machine sanding or grinding with-
out a high-efficiency particulate air
(HEPA) local exhaust control.

(c) Abrasive blasting or sandblasting
without HEPA local exhaust control.

(d) Heat guns operating above 1100
degrees Fahrenheit or charring the
paint.

(e) Dry sanding or dry scraping, ex-
cept dry scraping in conjunction with
heat guns or within 1.0 ft. (0.30 m.) of
electrical outlets, or when treating de-
fective paint spots totaling no more
than 2 sq. ft. (0.2 sq. m.) in any one in-
terior room or space, or totaling no
more than 20 sq. ft. (2.0 sq. m.) on exte-
rior surfaces.

(f) Paint stripping in a poorly venti-
lated space using a volatile stripper
that is a hazardous substance in ac-
cordance with regulations of the Con-
sumer Product Safety Commission at
16 CFR 1500.3, and/or a hazardous chem-
ical in accordance with the Occupa-
tional Safety and Health Administra-
tion regulations at 29 CFR 1910.1200 or
1926.59, as applicable to the work.

§35.145 Compliance with Federal laws
and authorities.

All lead-based paint activities, in-
cluding waste disposal, performed
under this part shall be performed in
accordance with applicable Federal
laws and authorities. For example,
such activities are subject to the appli-
cable environmental review require-
ments of the National Environmental
Policy Act of 1969 (42 U.S.C. 4321 et
seq.), the Toxic Substances Control
Act, Title IV (15 U.S.C. 2860 et seq.), and
other environmental laws and authori-
ties (see, e.g., laws and authorities list-
ed in §50.4 of this title).

§35.155

§35.150 Compliance with other State,
tribal, and local laws.

(a) HUD responsibility. If HUD deter-
mines that a State, tribal or local law,
ordinance, code or regulation provides
for evaluation or hazard reduction in a
manner that provides a comparable
level of protection from the hazards of
lead-based paint poisoning to that pro-
vided by the requirements of subparts
B, C, D, F through M and R of this part
and that adherence to the require-
ments of subparts B, C, D, F through
M, and R of this part, would be duplica-
tive or otherwise cause inefficiencies,
HUD may modify or waive some or all
of the requirements of the subparts in
a manner that will promote efficiency
while ensuring a comparable level of
protection.

(b) Participant responsibility. Nothing
in this part is intended to relieve any
participant in a program covered by
this subpart of any responsibility for
compliance with State, tribal or local
laws, ordinances, codes or regulations
governing evaluation and hazard reduc-
tion. If a State, tribal or local law, or-
dinance, code or regulation defines
lead-based paint differently than the
Federal definition, the more protective
definition (i.e., the lower level) shall be
followed in that State, tribal or local
jurisdiction.

§385.155 Minimum requirements.

(a) Nothing in subparts B, C, D, F
through M, and R of this part is in-
tended to preclude a designated party
or occupant from conducting addi-
tional evaluation or hazard reduction
measures beyond the minimum re-
quirements established for each pro-
gram in this regulation. For example,
if the applicable subpart requires vis-
ual assessment, the designated party
may choose to perform a risk assess-
ment in accordance with §35.1320. Simi-
larly, if the applicable subpart requires
interim controls, a designated party or
occupant may choose to implement
abatement in accordance with §35.1325.

(b) To the extent that assistance
from any of the programs covered by
subparts B, C, D, and F through M of
this part is used in conjunction with
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other HUD program assistance, the
most protective requirements prevail.

§35.160 Waivers.

In accordance with §5.110 of this
title, on a case-by-case basis and upon
determination of good cause, HUD
may, subject to statutory limitations,
waive any provision of subparts B, C,
D, F through M, and R of this part.

§35.165 Prior evaluation or hazard re-
duction.

If an evaluation or hazard reduction
was conducted at a residential property
or dwelling unit before the property or
dwelling unit became subject to the re-
quirements of subparts B, C, D, F
through M, and R of this part, such an
evaluation, hazard reduction or abate-
ment meets the requirements of sub-
parts B, C, D, F through M, and R of
this part and need not be repeated
under the following conditions:

(a) Lead-based paint inspection. (1) A
lead-based paint inspection conducted
before the date specified in 40 CFR
745.239(b) meets the requirements of
this part if:

(i) At the time of the inspection the
lead-based paint inspector was ap-
proved by a State or Indian tribe to
perform lead-based paint inspections.
It is not necessary that the State or
tribal approval program had EPA au-
thorization at the time of the inspec-
tion.

(ii) Notwithstanding paragraph
(a)(1)(i) of this section, the inspection
was conducted and accepted as valid by
a housing agency in fulfillment of the
lead-based paint inspection require-
ment of the public and Indian housing
program.

(2) A lead-based paint inspection con-
ducted on or after the effective date
specified in 40 CFR 745.239(b) must have
been conducted by a certified lead-
based paint inspector.

(b) Risk assessment. (1) A risk assess-
ment must be no more than 12 months
old to be considered current.

(2) A risk assessment conducted be-
fore the effective date of 40 CFR
745.239(b) meets the requirements of
this part if at the time of the risk as-
sessment the risk assessor was ap-
proved by a State or Indian tribe to
perform risk assessments. It is not nec-
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essary that the State or tribal approval
program had EPA authorization at the
time of the risk assessment.

(3) A risk assessment conducted on or
after the date specified in 40 CFR
745.239(b) must have been conducted by
a certified risk assessor.

(4) Paragraph (b) of this section does
not apply in a case where a risk assess-
ment is required in response to the
identification of a child with an envi-
ronmental intervention blood lead
level. In such a case, the requirements
in the applicable subpart for respond-
ing to a child with an environmental
intervention blood 1lead level shall
apply.

(c) Interim controls. If a residential
property is under a program of interim
controls and ongoing lead-based paint
maintenance and reevaluation activi-
ties established pursuant to a risk as-
sessment conducted in accordance with
paragraph (b) of this section, the in-
terim controls that have been con-
ducted meet the requirements of this
part if clearance was achieved after
such controls were implemented. In
such a case, the program of interim
controls and ongoing activities shall be
continued in accordance with the re-
quirements of this part.

(d) Abatement. (1) An abatement con-
ducted before the date specified in 40
CFR 745.239(b) meets the requirements
of this part if:

(i) At the time of the abatement the
abatement supervisor was approved by
a State or Indian tribe to perform lead-
based paint abatement. It is not nec-
essary that the State or tribal approval
program had EPA authorization at the
time of the abatement.

(ii) Notwithstanding paragraph
(d)(@)({E) of this section, it was con-
ducted and accepted by a housing agen-
cy in fulfillment of the lead-based
paint abatement requirement of the
public housing program or by an Indian
housing authority (as formerly defined
under the U.S. Housing Act of 1937) in
fulfillment of the lead-based paint re-
quirement of the Indian housing pro-
gram formerly funded under the U.S.
Housing Act of 1937.

(2) An abatement conducted on or
after the date specified in 40 CFR
745.239(b) must have been conducted
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under the supervision of a certified
lead-based paint abatement supervisor.

[64 FR 50208, Sept. 15, 1999; 656 FR 3387, Jan.
21, 2000]

§35.170 Noncompliance with the re-
quirements of subparts B through R
of this part.

(a) Monitoring and enforcement. A des-
ignated party who fails to comply with
any requirement of subparts B, C, D, F
through M, and R of this part shall be
subject to the sanctions available
under the relevant Federal housing as-
sistance or ownership program and
may be subject to other penalties au-
thorized by law.

(b) A property owner who informs a
potential purchaser or occupant of
lead-based paint or possible lead-based
paint hazards in a residential property
or dwelling unit, in accordance with
subpart A of this part, is not relieved
of the requirements to evaluate and re-
duce lead-based paint hazards in ac-
cordance with subparts B through R of
this part as applicable.

§35.175 Records.

The designated party, as specified in
subparts C, D, and F through M of this
part, shall keep a copy of each notice,
evaluation, and clearance or abate-
ment report required by subparts C, D,
and F through M of this part for at
least three years. Those records appli-
cable to a portion of a residential prop-
erty for which ongoing lead-based paint
maintenance and/or reevaluation ac-
tivities are required shall be kept and
made available for the Department’s
review, until at least three years after
such activities are no longer required.

Subpart C—Disposition of Residen-
tial Property Owned by a Fed-
eral Agency Other Than HUD

SOURCE: 64 FR 50208, Sept. 15, 1999, unless
otherwise noted.

§35.200 Purpose and applicability.

The purpose of this subpart C is to
establish procedures to eliminate as far
as practicable lead-based paint hazards
prior to the sale of a residential prop-
erty that is owned by a Federal agency
other than HUD. The requirements of

§35.215

this subpart apply to any residential
property offered for sale on or after
September 15, 2000.

§35.205 Definitions and other general
requirements.

Definitions and other general re-
quirements that apply to this subpart
are found in subpart B of this part.

§35.210 Disposition of residential
property constructed before 1960.

(a) Evaluation. The Federal agency
shall conduct a risk assessment and a
lead-based paint inspection in accord-
ance with 40 CFR 745.227 before the
closing of the sale.

(b) Abatement of lead-based paint haz-
ards. The risk assessment used for the
identification of hazards to be abated
shall have been performed no more
than 12 months before the beginning of
the abatement. The Federal agency
shall abate all identified lead-based
paint hazards in accordance with 40
CFR 745.227. Abatement is completed
when clearance is achieved in accord-
ance with 40 CFR 745.227. Where abate-
ment of lead-based paint hazards is not
completed before the closing of the
sale, the Federal agency shall be re-
sponsible for assuring that abatement
is carried out by the purchaser before
occupancy of the property as target
housing and in accordance with 40 CFR
745.2217.

§35.215 Disposition of residential
property constructed after 1959 and
before 1978.

The Federal agency shall conduct a
risk assessment and a lead-based paint
inspection in accordance with 40 CFR
745.227. Evaluation shall be completed
before closing of the sale according to
a schedule determined by the Federal
agency. The results of the risk assess-
ment and lead-based paint inspection
shall be made available to prospective
purchasers as required in subpart A of
this part.

Subpart D—Project-Based Assist-
ance Provided by a Federal
Agency Other Than HUD

SOURCE: 64 FR 50209, Sept. 15, 1999, unless
otherwise noted.
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